

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Practice Challenges Among Social Work Mitigation Specialists and Interprofessional Supervision Methods

Nicole Denise Jackson Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Social Work Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Nicole Jackson

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Kenneth Larimore, Committee Chairperson, Social Work and Human Services Faculty

Dr. Sean Hogan, Committee Member, Social Work and Human Services Faculty Dr. Cynthia Davis, University Reviewer, Social Work and Human Services Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Practice Challenges Among Social Work Mitigation Specialists and Interprofessional Supervision Methods

by

Nicole D. Jackson

MSW, Georgia State University, 2012 BA, Spelman College, 2008

Project Submitted in Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

November 2019

Abstract

Social work supervision is a core component of the social work profession that is often absent for social workers in interprofessional teams. In capital defense practice settings, social workers are hired as mitigation specialists to work as members of the legal team. Informed by systems theory, the purpose of this action research study was to explore the practice challenges of social work mitigation specialists (SWMS) and how an interprofessional-focused supervision approach could be applied to resolve those issues. Six SWMS employed with capital defense agencies in Georgia and Texas were interviewed. Using a thematic coding analysis, several key themes emerged: (a) role navigation, (b) ethical dilemmas as practice challenges, (c) increased competence, and (d) team cohesion as dynamics that will improve with the implementation of an interprofessional-focused supervision approach. These findings provide understanding as to how supervision can be tailored to guide SWMS and other social workers in interprofessional settings. Recommendations for future research involve developing supervision guidelines for social work practice in interprofessional settings. Adhering to these suggestions might provide insight as to how interprofessional teams can work collaboratively, improving practice approaches and interventions to alter systems of service delivery and client outcomes. This provides the opportunity to effect social change by impacting individual practitioners and clients, as well as organizations, systems, and from a political perspective.

Practice Challenges Among Social Work Mitigation Specialists and Interprofessional Supervision Methods

by

Nicole D. Jackson

MSW, Georgia State University, 2012 BA, Spelman College, 2008

Project Submitted in Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

November 2019

Dedication

This body of knowledge is dedicated to my family who have supported me with a Godly love throughout this entire process. And, to my clients and colleagues who have gifted me with experiences to sew into the development of skill and greater impact.

Acknowledgments

This academic pursuit has both endured and ignited seasons of growth in my professional and personal life—all of which I am forever grateful. And, as it concludes, I consider it nothing less than an honor to thank those who have accompanied me along the way. I first want to thank God for instilling a vision and purpose for greatness within me.

To my Chair, Dr. Kenneth Larimore and committee members, Dr. Sean Hogan and Dr. Cynthia Davis, thank you for your patience and direction. You have challenged me to elevate and produce work reflective of true scholarship. Few know and understand your worth in this process.

My husband and son, Darren and Elijah—the reasons for my grind. I am blessed beyond measure to have you both. Darren, your position in my life requires too many references but I pray that you know how much I adore you. Thank you for seeing me through the long nights, tears, frustration, and incremental milestones in the midst of your own academic journey. Elijah, Mommy loves you! From the nights of typing with you in my belly, to days of you pounding my keyboard as I typed my final edits, I count it all joy. You are destined for greatness and I pray that you will one day understand that Mommy is paving the way for you.

To my Mommy, your guidance and wisdom are beyond words that can be described on a page. Thank you for nourishing the drive in me, and serving as an example of faith and strength on which I stand. Your quiet, yet bold and consistent presence in my life is matchless. I love you so much!

My Sister, my baby-- nose. Your support in the form of sisterly advice, baby-sitting, venting sessions and embracing hugs that energize my spirit are simply cherished. You mean so much more than you know.

Jasmine, my cousin, friend, and the one who has pushed for academic and professional attainment with me since day one. I did it but the true celebration begins when you cross this line with me! We've shared this dream for a long time--we are on our way to another level of greatness!

I want to express gratitude to everyone who has contributed to my journey, both directly and indirectly. It is now time for me to pay it forward as I support you in your dreams and engage in service to those for whom I have been prepared.

Table of Contents

| Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review | 1 |
|--|----|
| Problem Statement | 2 |
| Purpose Statement and Research Questions | 3 |
| Nature of the Doctoral Project | 4 |
| Significance of the Study | 5 |
| Theoretical Framework | 7 |
| Values and Ethics | 9 |
| Review of Professional and Academic Literature | 10 |
| Summary | 26 |
| Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection | 28 |
| Research Design | 28 |
| Methodology | 30 |
| Data Analysis | 32 |
| Ethical Procedures | 34 |
| Summary | 36 |
| Section 3: Presentation of the Findings | 37 |
| Data Analysis Techniques | 38 |
| Validation Procedures | 39 |
| Limitations | 40 |
| Findings | 40 |
| Unexpected Findings | 54 |

| Summary | 55 |
|---|----|
| Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social | |
| Change | 57 |
| Application for Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice | 58 |
| Recommendations for Social Work Practice | 61 |
| Impact on Social Work Practice | 63 |
| Recommendations for Future Research | 65 |
| Implications for Social Change | 66 |
| Summary | 67 |
| References | 68 |
| Appendix A: Interview Questions | 79 |
| Appendix B: Initial Contact Email | 81 |

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

Supervision is the pathway through which clinicians develop skills and competencies purposed to enhance practice; however, poor conceptualization and application of supervision limits its effectiveness (Milne, Aylott, Fitzpatrick, & Ellis, 2008). Kanno and Koeske (2010) highlighted the effects that inadequate supervision has on social work professionals. The quality of supervision directly impacts a social worker's level of professional preparedness and performance outcomes. Additionally, profession-specific supervision limits the worker's professional capacity. When working in an interprofessional environment in which professionals collaborate to provide clients care, it is necessary to incorporate a range of professional components in supervision to prepare social workers to thrive in practice (Bogo, Paterson, Tufford, & King, 2011).

In capital defense teams, social workers are hired as members of an interprofessional legal trial team to defend persons accused of capital murder. This role is referred to as a mitigation specialist (MS). During the course of the team efforts, social work mitigation specialists (SWMS) are often confronted with circumstances that are better addressed with professional supervision; however, supervision frequently a lacking privilege in many legal settings (Hicks-Pass, 2013). Although these issues may be social work in nature, decisions made must incorporate all professional aspects of the case (Andrews, 2012; Supplementary Guidelines, 2008). It is unclear what is the best supervision approach to address the practice challenges of SWMS.

In this qualitative action research study, I sought to provide a foundation for advancing social work supervision (SWS) practices. Through the examination of challenge experienced by SWMS, application of practice theory, a review of social work professional standards, and an understanding of how these concepts fit within the interprofessional capital defense framework, I provided a perspective of this unique practice. This information will advance the social work profession and provide understanding as to how research methods may be employed by communities to produce positive social change.

Problem Statement

Although researchers correlate quality SWS with greater health and practice outcomes among professionals (Robinson, 2013), social workers continue to lack this necessary guidance globally. Hair (2013) reported the existence of growing concerns about the waning availability and decreasing quality of supervision among the international community of social workers. Ladany, Mori, and Mehr (2013) also highlighted the findings of problematic, counterproductive, harmful, and unethical clinical supervision among human service professionals through empirically-based research.

Although scholars in regions such as Australia, Canada, and the United Kingdom have concentrated on inadequate supervision, research of this nature is limited in the United States. This subject matter is scarce in discussions relating to supervision for social work practice in capital defense legal teams and what approach is most effective in addressing supervision needs in this practice area. The SWMS frequently face conflict in practice that challenges professional standards as they seek to meet client needs. Despite this concern, there are little data on the need for the supervision of SWMS.

Purpose Statement and Research Questions

The SWMS works as a member of an interprofessional team to legally defend an individual accused of capital murder. In this process, the SWMS is tasked with assisting legal counsel in identifying mitigating themes in a client's life and developing a theoretical basis for trial strategy. The Supplementary Guidelines (2008) of the American Bar Association (ABA, 2003) state that the MS must be able to "illustrate and illuminate factors that shaped and influenced the client's behavior and functioning" (p. 683). The MS must be trained in understanding how biopsychosocial, economic, and political influences impact a client's life.

Although the ABA does not require the MS to be a social worker, the responsibilities of this role are naturally engrained in the social work profession and course of training (Andrews, 2012). Social workers are often hired to fulfill this role. The ABA's designation of the lead attorney as case supervisor, as opposed to a trained social worker, deviates from the acknowledgement and fulfillment of the social work professional standards put forth by the National Association of Social Workers Code of Ethics (NASW, 2008). The focus of the criminal justice system is on the defendant; whereas, social workers concentrate on the wellbeing of the person labeled as the defendant (Mason, 1991). Although policies have shifted the focus of programs within the justice system to focus more on rehabilitation, the notion that incarcerated persons are offenders first, has remained a constant theme (Payne & Welch, 2015). Consequently, SWMS are left responsible for prioritizing legal practices and values against social work ethical standards.

Social work professionals use supervision is a mechanism to manage practice dilemmas. Milne et al. (2008) characterized supervision as an avenue for clinicians to develop professional competencies. The relationship between a senior and junior practitioner provides an opportunity for junior practitioners to receive guidance related to practice challenges. This missing relational element is an obstacle for SWMSs in this practice setting. Although social work professional benefit from supervision provided by like-professionals, profession-specific supervision limits a professional's ability to work optimally within interprofessional teams. The interprofessional supervision framework emphasizes the incorporation of all participating disciplines, enabling the sharing of knowledge to form new approaches to working with clients (Beddoe & Howard, 2012).

The goal of this qualitative action study was to explore the necessity of supervision for SWMS and to assess the appropriateness of an interprofessional-focused supervision approach to resolve practice challenges. The research questions for this study were the following: What practice challenges do SWMS believe would benefit from supervision? Additionally, what are SWMS perceptions about whether an interprofessional supervision approach would adequately address experienced challenges? Answering these questions will advance understanding about the challenges of social workers in this practice sector and provide a foundation for future studies in identifying best practices for this specialty.

Nature of the Doctoral Project

A qualitative action research framework was used to guide this investigative effort. This design accommodates flexibility in the research process and is favorable for

gathering data reflective of a range of experiences, useful for effecting change among the target community (Stringer, 2007). Morgan, Ataie, Carder, and Hoffman (2013) conducted three separate studies with varying demographics to explore dyadic interviewing as an appropriate method for qualitative research and revealed that dyadic interviews yield data that reflect social interaction and in-depth narratives, remaining consistent with the focus of qualitative data.

To investigate social work practice challenges in capital defense and the relevance of specific SWS techniques, I conducted narrative interviews with SWMS. This data collection method was implemented from an action research approach, intended to model a process of change within the identified organization. Although research questions were identified, action research presents the opportunity for researchers to understand an issue from the perspective of the community, develop a plan of action, and evoke change. As I engaged with the target community, my primary role was to listen and facilitate a process of change. The data collected in this process were examined through a thematic coding analysis. I organized the qualitative data into groups, further enabling the identification and reporting of patterns within the data set (Vaismoradi, Turunen, & Bondas, 2013).

Significance of the Study

Stemming from research on the benefits of SWS, I sought to emphasize the necessity of supervision for SWMS and explored the usefulness of an interprofessional supervision approach to resolve practice challenges. Social work supervision functions as an administrative, educative, and supportive mechanism through which social workers are held accountable and expected to align their practice with the policies, ethics, and

standards governing their employing organization (Beddoe, 2012). Supervision and collegial support were found to be the only significant theme to correlate with practitioner resilience (Beddoe, Davys, & Adamson, 2014). Social workers attribute supervision to their ability to cope with work-related stressors which ultimately improves their practice abilities.

An investigation of the concept of SWS within the capital defense revealed the importance of its application. The information from this investigation may be used to assist nonsocial work professionals in the capital defense sector to understand how social workers may optimize personal and professional outcomes, as well as how this directly relates to legal aspects of the case. Greater competency may then translate to the incorporation of required SWS within the ABA guidelines.

This knowledge should not be limited to changing policies relating to SWS, as it has the ability to transform the social work discipline, the professionals who work within this sector, and society through social change. As individual workers develop awareness and understanding of their role within the systems they work, they may alter their perspective of professional development—the manner in which their work is performed and the tools needed to achieve its execution for clients and the community. The adoption of this outlook establishes new standards for the profession from a practice, policy, and research standpoint.

This investigative effort may encourage scholars to build upon these findings to identify theories to guide interprofessional teamwork. Integrating such findings into practice will alter the way social work students are trained and the quality of services that

are rendered. As social work professionals grow in knowledge, clients and the communities served will also be transformed through processes of social change. Close attention to practice efforts that affect client outcomes may lead to the bridging of gaps between professionals, the community, and clients served. These elements provide an indication as to how information and research may be applied to solve problems.

Theoretical Framework

Newell (2001) characterized systems theory (ST) as a given structure that possesses its own self-organizing behaviors; thus, each facet is different from the sum of its parts, and it is limited in functionality without all parts. According to ST, social workers must engage in alignment with professional team members to enhance practice outcomes. All professionals within an interprofessional team must understand how each role and professional standard(s) impact team outcomes. An understanding of the social worker position within capital defense teams and incorporating elements to address the professional needs of social workers in alignment with legal standards will improve practice, team functionality, and outcomes for clients.

Systems Theory: Social Work and Interprofessional Practice

Referred to as interprofessional teams, the concept of incorporating the social work role into a range of professional settings has evolved into a popular and demanding practice. The Canadian Interprofessional Health Collaborative (CIHC, 2010) described interprofessional collaboration as "a partnership between a team of health providers and a client in a participatory, collaborative and coordinated approach to shared decision-making around health and social issues" (p. 11). This definition has been generally

accepted, as many nations and governments have focused professional practices on the provision of services across sectors. Although these teams may be comprised of a range of professionals, the incorporation of social work has been of particular interest for interprofessional teams (Glaser & Suter, 2016), as their skillsets are highly valuable and adaptable for meeting the needs of clients.

Glaser and Suter (2016) explored the actual experiences of social workers as they work with other professionals in a health care setting. Glaser and Suter suggested that, although social workers held a positive view of this work, there were concerns relating to the full integration and collaboration of the social work role. This concern stemmed from the perspective of participants reflecting a lack of understanding of social work ideology from other professionals on the team. Social workers also highlighted communication as a key component of the team's work (Glaser & Suter, 2016). The application of ST in this practice approach would facilitate the competence required for all professionals to work cohesively within the team.

Suter et al. (2013) emphasized the dependence that interprofessional collaborations have on the application of organizational and systems theories.

Communication, motivation, negotiation, and culture are all common focuses of organizations with varying professional components. Weinstein, Morton, Taras, and Reznick (2013) explored the significance of teaching successful teamwork to law school students to promote the understanding of teamwork: clear goals, leadership, shared commitment and participation, mutual respect, open communication, collaborative environment, on-going team evaluation, member competence, external support and

recognition, stages in the team process, forming, norming, storming, reforming, and performing. Through grouping students and placing them in interprofessional scenarios, Weinstein et al. found that students attributed their training in teamwork to improving their communication, time management, delegation, and problem-solving.

As social workers seek to collaborate with other professionals, there must be a focus on understanding the role and professional practices of each team component to facilitate successful outcomes. This logic applies to this project, as it informs the development of research questions by establishing an understanding that SWMS work as a part of a greater system. The research questions were framed to seek resolutions to practice problems, encompassing all aspects of the greater working system. I gathered information pertaining to the experiences of participants (understanding their role within the legal team, challenges, and professional needs) to determine the best methods for supervision. Employing ST also provides a foundation for understanding why SWS is needed in this professional sector and how it can be applied as social workers practice within capital defense legal teams.

Values and Ethics

The NASW Code of Ethics (2008) is an ethical guide for practice by which social workers should adhere to protect themselves, as well as the clients they serve. Although there are various aspects of this guide that correlate with this practice issue, there are two social work practice values that must be highlighted: social justice and competence. The social work discipline focuses on ensuring the fair treatment of marginalized populations, calling for social workers to challenge the injustices that clients may endure. The practice

of SWMS encompasses this value, as they work to ensure that clients receive a fair trial in the justice system. Although this is the overall goal of the profession, SWMS must also combat injustices that the client may face as a result of team dynamics. Exploring the incorporation of adequate SWS may address practice conflicts that relate to client injustices.

The value of competence directly relates to this study because this value requires that social workers practice within their skillset and also seek to enhance knowledge to better serve clients (NASW, 2008). Supervision serves as a core element of professional development in the social work discipline (Coleman, 2003). The absence of competence in capital defense teams limits the SWMS' professional capacity in addressing practice conflict and advancing their expertise as it pertains to understanding how to align their practice with legal justice ideology. Limited understanding inhibits the outcome of their work with the team and outcomes for clients. An investigation as to how to address this practice concern supports the goal of the NASW Code of Ethics and advances the social work profession.

Review of Professional and Academic Literature

To gain an understanding of social work practice and the SWMS role, I performed a comprehensive search of current literature. Targeted sources were published between the years 2012 to 2017; however older sources were referenced to provide historical context when applicable. Social work databases such as SocIndex and PsycInfo were accessed through the Walden University Library website. The Academic Search Complete database was used to focus on interprofessional perspectives. Within these

searches, I used the following search terms: *capital defense, law, social work, social work supervision,* and *interprofessional teams* to reflect components of the study.

Social Work Practice and Professional Standards

The NASW (2017a) defined social work practice as consisting of social work values, principles, and techniques to one or more of the following ends: helping people obtain tangible services; counseling and psychotherapy with individuals, families, and groups; helping communities or groups provide or improve social and health services; and participating in legislative processes. The practice of social work requires knowledge of human development and behavior; of social and economic, and cultural institutions; and of the interaction of all these factors. (para. 1)

This definition expresses the range of roles social workers may fulfill and systems they may serve within. Despite working in a micro, mezzo, or macro capacity, the NASW Code of Ethics is a set of professional standards that governs the behavior and practices of social workers.

History of the NASW code of ethics. Although ethics have been a focal point of social work, the profession has experienced a shift in ethical perspectives throughout its evolution. The original NASW Code of Ethics was published on October 13, 1960, and it saw a series of revisions to reflect the modern-day code, last revised in 2008 (NASW, 2017b). Many revisions of the NASW Code of Ethics were prompted by response to shifting social, political, and economic climates throughout the years (Payne, 2002).

Reamer (1998) highlighted the stages that impacted the development of the discipline: morality period, the values period, the ethical and decision-making period, and the ethical standards and risk management period. These periods transitioned from a focus on the moral behaviors of clients, to the modern-day perspective that promotes high standards of practice among professionals. A present-day understanding of the issues social workers face in practice has led to sustainable growth within the profession, promoting responsible decision making and positive outcomes (Reamer, 1998).

Current NASW code of ethics. The NASW Code of Ethics (2008) highlighted the core values of the profession: service, social justice, dignity and worth of person, importance of human relationships, integrity, and competence that are defined by the social work ethical principles. Each of these values and principles are applicable to any given social work practice circumstance and must be followed when social workers are faced with practice dilemmas. I will review and operationalize the core values of the social work profession.

Service. Social workers are expected to assist people in need by addressing the social problems they are enduring (NASW, 2008). This professional standard requires that social workers act in the best interest of the client, neglecting any personal bias or self-motivating factors. In addition, social workers are expected to serve at the professional level in which they have been trained, while incorporating other helpful resources to assist in the process.

Social justice. Professionals within the social work practice are called to challenge social injustices, focusing on oppressed and vulnerable populations. Although

there is an infinite number of populations that require this source of advocacy for various reasons, the main goal of this core value is to promote cultural sensitivity (Garran, Kang, & Fraser, 2014) and equal treatment for all populations. This value encompasses the acceptance of diversity, awareness, inclusion, and understanding of all groups.

Integrating social justice into practice is often a difficult concept for social workers to incorporate into practice because there is a lacking consensus about how to define multicultural education, cultural competence, and diversity (Garran et al., 2014). Despite varying understandings, fighting for the equal opportunity and fair treatment for all humans may serve as a template on how to incorporate this value into practice.

Dignity and worth of the person. Social workers are to treat everyone with respect—in consideration of their values, circumstances, choices, and desire to enhance their capacity and opportunity within the greater community (NASW, 2008). Social workers seek to protect and promote each client's rights to quality life, in addition to his or her right to self-determination. No person should be disparaged, but rather encouraged by their strengths and ability to proactively be an agent of change in his or her own circumstances.

Importance of human relationships. Social work professionals understand the importance of human relationships and how the nature of those relationships may be used to achieve changes (NASW, 2008). Social workers rely on a network of professionals and resources to achieve a desired outcome. Recognizing how to establish relationships and professional networks can be crucial to the quality and achievement of client and practice outcomes.

Integrity. Social workers are expected to behave honestly and responsibly (NASW, 2008). Social workers frequently face professional challenges that challenge integrity (Banks, 2010). As social workers engage in practice, it is essential to honor commitments to their organization of employment and clients, despite any personal beliefs (Jedynak, 2014). Maintaining integrity includes upholding all professional and organizational standards, in addition to acting in the best interest of the target client population (NASW, 2008).

Competence. Social work professionals provide services within the scope of their training and seek to enhance knowledge through consultation of resources and other trained professionals when needed (NASW, 2008). Additionally, social workers are expected to engage in continuing education to maintain professional licensure(s) and seek contribute to the knowledge base of the profession.

Social Work Supervision

The role of a social work supervisor is to manage and support junior practitioners by providing direction and setting standards (Caras & Sandu, 2014). The goal of this process is the development of new skills, promoting personal and professional growth for the supervisee. Although many agree that this relationship serves as a benefit to both the supervisor and supervised, opponents suggest that it has also proven to be problematic, compounding the load of an already stressful profession (Falender, Burnes, & Ellis, 2013). SWS is a core component of the social work discipline and is considered among best practices.

History. The concept of SWS traces back to the early 1900s. Pioneers of the

profession were modeled after the three components of established supervision frameworks that continue to serve as a foundation for its implementation: administrative, educational, and supportive (Coleman, 2003). The administrative element emphasizes the completion of agency-oriented tasks that correlate with organizational policies and requirements. The educational component, also recognized as clinical supervision in social work, mimics a learning relationship, in which the supervisee learns therapeutic skills and knowledge related to client interaction. The supportive aspect of supervision concentrates on the individual wellbeing of the supervisee and managing job-related stress (Coleman, 2003).

Scholars have focused on the transition of SWS throughout its years of existence. Although scholars have adopted various approaches to evaluating its changing course, most agree that changes in SWS directly correlate with the culture of the profession. Tsui (1997) highlighted the development of social welfare and the professionalization of the social work discipline as two contributing factors of change. Tsui further dissected the course of SWS into five stages: administrative roots of SWS (1878-1910), the change of the context of supervisory training and emergence of a literature base (1911-1945), influence of practice theory and methods (1930s-1950s), debate between interminable supervision and autonomous practice (1956-1970s), and back to administrative function in the age of accountability (1980s-1995). Tsui explained that early functions of the SWS concept was modeled after a case work format and transitioned to focus on self-directed practices. A more contemporary focus of licensing and accountability refocused SWS on

administration, as organizations sought to increase the quality of services through policies and organizational values.

O'Donoghue and Tsui (2015) presented the changing states of SWS, focusing on an evaluation of its application in practice. O'Donoghue and Tsui cited several studies that provided a foundation for their research. Harkness and Poertner (1989) found that the supervision process focused more on the relationship between supervisor and supervisee, rather than client outcomes. This is contrast to the argument of Tsui (1997), maintaining that organizations were forced to focus on the effectiveness of services, as funders demanded this priority.

Bogo and McKnight (as cited in O'Donoghue & Tsui, 2015) revealed the diminishing role of SWS. From this, Bogo and McKnight (as cited in O'Donoghue & Tsui, 2015) recommended that future scholars focus on the development of valid and reliable instruments to evaluate the effectiveness of various supervision models.

Nevertheless, O'Donoghue and Tsui (2015) found that there is an existing awareness and knowledge base concerning the development of SWS and the importance of its application to oversee cases and to regulate how social workers are impacted by their work. Furthermore, O'Donoghue and Tsui (2015) revealed that SWS encompasses the provision of emotional support and that trustworthy SWS relationships positively impacts work-related stress and job satisfaction among social workers.

SWS focus on what practice models are good to guide developing social workers and how those methods impact client outcomes (Dan, 2017; O'Donoghue & Tsui, 2015). Although an administrative focus continues to guide SWS, a balance between

accountability and worker support will be beneficial for the development of social work practice. O'Donoghue (2015) recommended that scholars should examine the structure of SWS, the reasons for its implementation, and evidentiary practices.

Discussion of benefits and opposition to social work supervision. Although the continuous advancement of SWS research and methods support the benefits of SWS, the scholarly debate of its pros and cons continue. Kadushin (as cited in Tsui, 1997) argued 13 reasons in support of why social work supervision should be retained. Each of these reasons fell under the umbrellas of political accountability and organizational control, to correlate with the nature of social work and educational function of SWS or the support of workers.

One of the most common supports for SWS is the impact it has on worker resilience. Characterized as a concept that focuses on the exploration of strengths to identify potential solutions in adverse situations, Beddoe et al. (2014) explored the impact that SWS has on a worker's ability to manage work-related stressors. Beddoe et al. revealed that, although resilient practitioners assumed a responsibility for their own wellbeing, they attributed the development of those skills to supervision. Team and peer support were also noted as factors that contributed to the well-being of practitioners; thus, it is recommended that these methods are used to complement the supervisory relationship, not replace it. Beddoe et al. also highlighted the importance of regular social work meetings for practitioners in interdisciplinary teams.

Chiller and Crisp (2012) also supported allocating resources towards supervision because it is a main factor in social worker retention. Chiller and Crisp revealed that the

workers felt SWS helped with the management of stress, education, and the development of skills, which they were able to apply to their practice. Manthorpe, Moriarty, Hussein, Stevens, and Sharpe (2013) suggested that supervision for new social workers affected their practice engagement. Managers frequently stress over providing sufficient supervision for junior level workers. Manthorpe et al. suggested more structured support for newly qualified social workers. In addition, greater emphasis should be placed on determining the effectiveness of supervision provided by managers.

Caras and Sandu (2014) also supported notions in favor of SWS. Caras and Sandu stated that SWS is an essential element in the management of staff in social service organizations. Key functions of SWS were viewed as a source of peer review, support for assimilating new practitioners into their role and culture of the organization, as well as a mechanism for advancement for more experienced social workers (Caras & Sandu, 2014). The quality of services rendered to clients is directly dependent on the level of professional development within an organization; professional development is attributed to the quality of supervision that is provided to practitioners.

There is little information in opposition of SWS. Carpenter, Webb, and Bostock (2013) determined that, although there was some evidence that effective supervision is associated with job satisfaction and an increased ability to manage caseloads and job stressor, studies claiming the benefits of SWS were based on weak evidence. Researchers did not suggest that the proper implementation of SWS negatively impacts supervisees.

It is imperative to highlight the essential components that facilitate a successful SWS process. Beddoe (2017) suggested that SWS is "a practice that is expected to model

effective relationship building, the sensitive giving and receiving of feedback, and the careful management of power and difference" (p. 88). Ladany et al. (2013) found that effective supervisors focus on developing a solid supervisor-supervisee relationship and mutually agreed upon goals.

Ellis et al. (2014) expounded upon the definition of essential components of SWS and operationalized duties of a good supervisor. Ellis et al. stated that supervisors must possess the appropriate level of competency for clinical supervision and remain aware of their limitations, provide evaluative feedback to the supervisee in a respectful manner, promote and invest in the supervisees wellbeing and professional advancement, be attentive towards multicultural and diversity issues that may arise in the supervision relationship and in cases work, and acknowledge and address the boundaries that exist within the supervising relationship. These components are impossible to achieve if the supervisor is not competent in the professional practices of the supervisees.

The Interprofessional Collaboration Approach

The term interprofessional, although differentiated from multidisciplinary, interdisciplinary, and trans-disciplinary, all follow a similar collaborative model. For this investigation, the definition for interprofessional collaboration was adopted from Hogston and Marjoram's (2007) characterization of the multidisciplinary team approach: a collaborative process among groups of individuals with varying professional backgrounds, working towards a common outcome for the provision of services. This model is most often employed in health care, social service, and educational settings; however, it may be exercised in less traditional settings, such as the legal and corporate

fields. Much of the existing literature focuses on the health care setting and occasionally included the experiences of social workers.

Within recent decades, interprofessional collaboration has received greater attention, as it is considered essential to the provision of quality clinical care and maximizing outcomes for users of service (Fulmer, 2016). Ndoro (2014) found that interprofessional collaboration has advantages relating to professional competence, the quality of care provided to patients, and decision making relating to care. Findings in studies conducted among pediatric, geriatric, and oncology patients were also identified (Llewellyn-Jones & Pereira, 2016; Prades, Remue, van Hoof, & Borras, 2015; Tricco et al., 2014). Although improvements were recommended relevant to team processes, each study concluded that the interprofessional approach advances practice outcomes.

In addition to the health care setting, teams providing mental health services also have benefited from the interprofessional approach (Evans et al., 2012; Ndoro, 2014). A common thread exists among all: it is recommended that future studies focus on team processes and components that contribute to the effectiveness of interprofessional collaboration. Ndoro highlighted components that the National Health Service (NHS) England introduced as the 6C's for health care professionals: care, compassion, competence, communication, courage, and commitment. Each of these elements enhance the team working alliance, which impacts the ability to achieve intended goals. Nic a Bhaird et al. (2016) revealed that a lack in clarity in goals and undefined roles of team members hindered the collaborative process among mental health interprofessional teams.

In 2007, Shaw, Heyman, Reynolds, Davies, and Godin explored factors that limited the interprofessional collaborative process in a qualitative study. This investigation revealed conflict, such as "boundary clashes, communication failures, stereotyping by one profession of another, exclusion of patients from effective engagement in their treatment, uninformed decision-making, disrespect and the existence of a collectively reproduced blame culture," (p. 15) led to a failure to achieve collaboration across professionals. It should be noted that higher-ranking medical professionals have more positive outlook on the success of the team process than non-medical professionals. In a more recent study, which focused on elements that strengthen the interprofessional collaborative process, Chatalasingh and Reeves (2014) found that situational team leadership which promotes direction and coaching, support and delegation, as well as the ability to adapt to the needs of the team led to more positive outcomes. Problem-solving and the ability to manage shifting clinical situations were also noted as positive qualities.

Studies in this area provide much evidence of needs for improvement. While collaborating professionals have the ability to optimize outcomes, a shift in how this approach is implemented is necessary. Moreover, an interprofessional way of thinking is essential to the success of this practice approach (Beddoe & Howard, 2012). This includes a change in personal perspectives as well as adopting solutions which respect all professional ideologies incorporated into the team process. A "more prevalent" ideology, such as medical ideology, in the healthcare setting inhibits the function of

interprofessional teams (Barr, 2013; Bitter, van Veen-Berkx, Gooszen & Amelsvoort, 2013).

Social workers in interprofessional teams. In addition to the increasing use of interprofessional teams across a wide range of settings, the inclusion of social workers as members of these teams has also gained greater acceptance. Social workers add a critical component of holistic care that considers psychological, social and emotional factors that may not be incorporated if they were not present (Craig, Bejan, & Muskat, 2013; Herod & Lymbery, 2002). The unique role that social workers fulfill in multidisciplinary teams is an indication that their experiences may be perceived as the same.

Glaser and Suter (2016) sought to expound upon this limited body of knowledge by examining the relationship between scope of practice, role clarity, respect for professional ideology, and interprofessional collaboration in an acute healthcare setting. This qualitative secondary data analysis found that the social workers included in the sample had an overall positive perspective of the team process and focus on meeting the needs of patients. Team meetings and conferences were perceived as tools which contributed to effective communication. On the other hand, researchers discovered two factors that negatively impacted job satisfaction among the sample population: social workers were not always permitted to apply their full set of professional skills and social work ideology fully accepted and valued by other professionals on the team (Glaser & Suter, 2016).

Results from Craig and Muskat (2013) also support the notion that social workers often face challenges in the healthcare setting. This qualitative study, which sampled

social workers in an urban hospital setting, revealed that social workers categorized their roles based on their perception of value in the workplace. For instance, an interpretive description analysis determined that social workers commonly viewed themselves as a broker, challenger, and firefighter. These labels reflected a more valued role. Other labels such as janitor and bouncer correlated with lesser values roles. A discussion of these varying roles indicates a blurred understanding of the social work position. Further breakdown of these results revealed that undefined roles correlated with higher burnout rates (Craig & Muskat, 2016).

In a 2012 study, the experiences of social workers involved in interprofessional community work focused on environmental sustainability yielded contrasting results. Schmitz, Matyok, Sloan, and James (2012) discovered that including social workers in efforts which focus on addressing global issues such as economic development, conflict transformation and peace building, is a natural process. A social worker's role in this work was perceived as an expansion of their skillset, adding value to the interprofessional process. The natural marrying of these professionals may have correlated with the shared ideologies they follow. This organic union of professions can be credited towards a mutual understanding and respect for other disciplines within the team (Khalili, Hall & DeLuca, 2014; Schmitz et al., 2012).

The state of research concerning the experiences of social workers in interprofessional teams is limited; however, research directly relating to social workers as members of capital defense teams is virtually non-existent. Much of the existing research echoes a call for social work education to focus on preparing social work students to

work effectively with other professionals. Though Taylor, Coffey, and Kashner (2016) state that trained social workers already possess the skills to work successfully within interprofessional teams, perhaps social work education should focus more on specialized skills to work more congruently within interprofessional teams. While social work education promotes a systems-centered thinking and other skills which facilitate a functional teamwork environment, having a competent understanding of the ideologies of collaborating professionals is a core element of successful interprofessional teamwork (Khalili et al., 2014; Taylor et al., 2016).

The specialty area most relevant to this research investigation is forensic social work. The U.S. National Organization of Forensic Social Work defines forensic social work as a discipline related to legal factors and litigation in both criminal and civil matters (National Organization of Forensic Social Work, 2010). The nature of this specialty requires that social workers partner with professionals within the courts, law enforcement, mental health and more, to achieve better outcomes for clients. The expertise of social workers is welcomed in this area because there is an inherent need to understand the intersection between individuals and environment (Sheehan, 2016). This factor increases the complexity of the working process, effecting the notion that a greater emphasis must be placed on accommodating the needs of social workers as they engage in interprofessional teams.

Reed and Rohrer (2000) explored the forensic social work experience through the lens of a field education/capital mitigation project in which social work students worked as members of a capital defense team. While the intent of this project was to illustrate

increasing opportunities for social workers to engage in changing practice environments, there were several lessons that may be highlighted from the venture. As cited by Reed and Rohrer, scholars Grossman, Levine-Jordano and Shearer state that capital defense mitigation is an area in which workers often experience strong emotions towards the client and also anxiety relating to their professional responsibility. It was suggested that field supervisors establish a framework to assist students to acknowledge and cope with these challenges, and to optimize their work with clients and their team.

Sheehan (2016) reports in a case study, which explored the experiences of forensic social workers in Australia, that many participants expressed needing enhanced knowledge in core areas relating to forensic social work (mental health and legal system). More specifically, participants described the need to make adaptations to their existing practice skills to incorporate an awareness of how mental health and the justice system intersected with their practice responsibilities.

While forensic social workers engage in multiple roles involving the mental health and justice settings, serving as a SWMS is limited to a specific setting—working as a member of capital defense teams to defend individuals accused of capital murder. After the reinstatement of the death penalty in the U.S. in 1977, the U.S. Supreme Court eventually determined that *mitigating factors* should be considered by jurors in determining a life or death decision for defendants found guilty of capital murder. This provision of law, made in 1978, allowed jurors to consider presented biopsychosocial factors in a client's life that deemed them less worthy of the death penalty (Reed &

Rohrer, 2000). This practice has now evolved into what is known contemporarily as the mitigation phase of a death penalty trial.

Today, professionals, referred to as an MS, work within an interprofessional legal trial team to defend an individual of capital murder. While the engagement of a social worker is not required by the ABA, the governing body of legal practice, this is an ideal placement for social workers due to their skillset (Andrews, 2012). Though the social work ideology directly aligns with the concept of mitigation, social work values are not a primary concern within this legal-based field. The ABA's designation of the lead attorney as the case supervisor often presents problems in practice for SWMS. The differing ideologies of the legal and social work fields often leave team professionals focused on conflicting elements of the case, though intending to achieve the best outcome for clients. While SWS supervision is a provision within traditional social work settings to assist professionals in managing practice challenges, the same is not true for SWMS. As plainly explained in the literature, while supervision is beneficial, the provision of supervision by professionals who do not possess the knowledge of social work competencies is quite harmful (Ladany et al., 2013).

Summary

The professionalization of the social work profession has called for the incorporation of policies and provisions, such as SWS, to inform practice efforts for the benefit of workers and service users. The occurrence of dilemmas that arise in interprofessional practice settings, where social workers are engaged, may add complexity to social work practice; however, the presence of SWS supervision serves as

a favorable solution. Research suggests that when non-social work professionals were trained concerning social work competencies, they were more encouraged to take the time to explore the strengths of the social work student and tailor the learning experience towards their individual needs (Hicks-Pass, 2013). While this does not meet the standard for professional SWS, it is an indication that supervision for social workers in interprofessional teams is beneficial to the social work practitioner, building stronger team alliances, and optimizing outcomes for service users.

Though the research does not specifically encompass the experiences of SWMS, the data clearly illustrate the need for clarity regarding social work practice in interprofessional settings. Social worker knowledge and skills are highly valued when working with service users; however, achieving intended outcomes requires adequate training and support. The intention of this research study was to explore the necessity of supervision for SWMS and to further assess interprofessional supervision as an appropriate method to address practice challenges.

Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

Social workers who work as MS in capital defense teams often face practice challenges that threaten their ability to achieve social work practice standards. These problems often arise as a result of differing professional ideologies within the collaborative partnership. Due to the limited research efforts that suggests solution to this practice challenge, in this qualitative action study, I further explored this issue. Following an action research approach, I interviewed SWMS from separate capital defense organizations in Texas and Georgia, seeking to discuss practice challenges and views on whether interprofessional supervision will adequately resolve these challenges.

Application of this research approach allows the researcher to act as a facilitator, with professionals within this practice setting formulating resolutions to the practice challenges they are experiencing. Data were analyzed according to a thematic analytical process from which I identified patterns to produce a descriptive interpretation of the raw data. Ethical procedures are also discussed within this section.

Research Design

Social workers who engage as capital defense MS are challenged with balancing social work values along with other professional competencies and methods of practice. This process is often difficult to manage, requiring supervision that upholds social work values and acknowledges other professional knowledge. To address the gaps in research concerning this practice problem, I sought to reveal the practice challenges of social workers within this interprofessional setting. I also explored whether an interprofessional supervision framework adequately addressed the identified practice challenges.

A qualitative research design implemented within an action research framework guided the execution of this research. As a member of this professional community, I worked with fellow SWMS to investigate challenges within the profession and how those challenges may be addressed. Action research is an investigative process that enables people to identify solutions to issues that they regularly face. In this process, the community engages in a cyclical investigative process that enhances knowledge and the group's ability to function (Stringer, 2007). This research method determines the direction of the study, as the community is the driving force in identifying the issue, developing a plan of action, and execution of steps for change.

Qualitative research, sometimes referred to as real-world inquiry, is a favorable method for asking questions about social and psychological aspects of life (Camic, Yardley, & Rhodes, 2003; Robson, 2011). Through conducting face-to-face interviews, researchers can gather information from the setting in which it was solicited. Though not targeting information relating to participants' personal life, the research questions involved learning about the personal experiences of MS's as they engaged in their professional role. Interviewing participants enables researchers to maintain control over the session, while providing the flexibility for participants to be descriptive in their responses (Morgan et al., 2013). In addition, interviewing presents the opportunity for social interaction, which enables researchers to build a rapport with participants and observe nonverbal behavior, which adds depth to the experience (Garbarski, Schaeffer, & Dykema, 2016). This is common in action research, as participants tend to identify with others within their community. The action research focus of this project was met through

interview discussion and my focus on partnering with other professionals to address the obstacles they experienced as they engage in their professional role.

Methodology

Prospective Data

I conducted a 60-minute maximum, audio-recorded, face-to-face interviews with each SWMS who consented to participate in the study. All data relevant to addressing the research questions were gathered within this setting. During each interview, I asked questions intended to gather information reflective of the participants' practice challenges while working within an interprofessional team setting. Additionally, in the interview discussions, I explored the challenges of practice within this setting and how an interprofessional-focused SWS may address those practice issues.

Individual interviews were chosen as the primary source of data collection because SWMS employed within the capital defense agency do not work in a central location. The organization decentralized its office, and it had multiple locations throughout the state of Georgia. Due to the nature of the position, SWMS are constantly traveling and work according to their own schedule; therefore, it would have been difficult to plan a single focus group that would accommodate the needs of the target participants. A focus group format would have served as an obstacle to gathering the number of participants necessary to acquire a quality set of data.

Participants

To qualify as a participant in this investigation, individuals were required to possess a social work bachelor's (BSW) or social work master's (MSW) degree.

Participants were also required to be employed with an identified capital defense organization, working as a full-time capital defense mitigation specialist position for a minimum of 6 months. The indicated degree requirements and tenure of employment were necessary to ensure that the participants possessed knowledge of social work practice standards and values, as well as a range of experiences within this professional sector.

A purposive sampling method was employed for this investigation. This method was most appropriate because it enabled me to target participants based on characteristics and in alignment with the objectives of the investigation. I solicited the participation of at 10 SWMS from a capital defense organization. I contacted the administrative staff of each organization via phone. In this conversation, I introduced myself and stated my intentions as it related to this project. The purpose of this conversation was to obtain the proper procedures for research approval within the organization. Once approved, I made a request for the administrative staff to e-mail a letter of inquiry to all SWMS who were employed with the organization. The first six who responded and provided informed consent were approached as participants. Following a preliminary discussion to confirm their qualifications and propriety for inclusion into the study, potential study participants began the informed consent process. Any potential study participant who failed to meet all of the qualifications for inclusion was excluded.

Instrumentation

Due to the qualitative nature of this study, I did not use an existing tool for data collection. I followed an original 16-item, semi structured qualitative interview schedule.

During the qualitative interview process, I expanded on the set of questions reflected in Appendix A; however, all discussion reflected the nature and purpose of the study. The set of questions began with the collection of demographic information, such as level of education, the number of years that the participant had been practicing, and other elements that may impact the professional experiences of the participant.

Data Analysis

Audio recordings of each interview served as the primary source of data. The use of audio recordings addressed issues relating to objectivity. The use of audio recordings also minimized interviewer bias, maximized credibility, and more accurately reflected what the participant was communicating within the data set.

Audio recordings were transcribed after each interview and subsequently analyzed according to a thematic coding process. This process assisted in the identification of major concepts within each interview, as well as patterns and themes across interviews. The data were analyzed within Microsoft Excel, indicating the question asked and the answer provided by the participant. The content and substance of responses was scrutinized for their relativity to the research questions. Performing this increased the validity of research findings. Responses determined to be irrelevant to the investigative questions were coded and omitted from the data set.

I generated codes based on the information shared by the interviewee. I then used the highlighting function within the Microsoft Excel program to pinpoint this information and make notes indicating the code. Common themes and categories were highlighted in a color-coordinated fashion. I also used a function within Microsoft Excel that helps to

identify when the interviewees used the same words or patterns in their responses. The identification of themes among the sample population contributed to my ability to confirm findings in future research.

When all data were transferred to Microsoft Excel in the appropriate fashion, I interpreted the data. This interpretation will assist consumers of the research investigation in understanding how capital defense mitigation practice experiences may impact the role of a social worker and how that phenomenon connects with the need for adequate supervision. Although all data collected were directly related to the SWMS experience, the interpretation of these results presented the opportunity for me to connect the experiences of the participants to the broader social worker interprofessional setting. This dissection of shared experiences between practice settings increases the degree of transferability and the extent to which research findings may be considered applicable to other social workers who work within interprofessional settings.

Once the data were analyzed, I packaged the results and presented them in a written form to the professional community. It is expected that the professional community will implement recommendations from the findings and incorporate them into organizational policies. The community can decide to adopt, refine, and/or reject the plan of action until they are able to develop a process and solution that addresses their practice issue and achieved the desired change. Feedback from the community contributes to the credibility of the data, as participants were able to confirm or negate the data as a reflection their experiences.

In addition to the different elements that address the rigor of this study, the action research-oriented approach contributed to the authenticity of the investigation. I, a trained SWMS, gathered information based on the personal experiences of those who were interviewed. My interest in this professional community, understanding of complex issues within this setting, and collaboration with relevant stakeholders speaks to the legitimacy of data, findings, and recommendations to build on new found knowledge. Although my professional interests may be considered a benefit in this research, my position also had the potential to impact the research process without intention. To address this, I maintained a reflective journal to express any personal perspectives or biases that may have surfaced throughout the research process. To this point, I ensured that I maintained a neutral perspective in the collection of data and documentation of findings.

Ethical Procedures

Various ethical practices were employed to ensure the protection of all participants and myself throughout the course of this research inquiry. When potential participants expressed interest and involvement in the research investigation, they were emailed a consent form and asked to review and sign. The potential participant was also invited to contact me via phone with any questions or concerns they may have about the study or consent form. When the potential participant developed an understanding of the research investigation and the nature of their involvement, they were asked to sign, date, and e-mail a copy of their form back to me. When I obtained the participant's signature, I

signed the form and e-mailed the participant a copy of the signed consent form to retain for their personal records.

Due to the nature of the study design, I was able to ensure the confidentiality of participant information. Participants were informed that their voluntary participation can be withdrawn anytime they feel uncomfortable and/or want to exit the study for any other reasons, without explanation. I explained to participants that although the research may be relevant to their professional role, and their supervisor will be aware of their participation, the information that they share will be kept confidential. Also, although I have a professional connection to potential study participants, I do not hold any supervisory or managerial role in our professional relationships.

At the time that participants consented to their involvement, they were assigned a number that was labeled on their consent form. I was the only party who was aware of that number, as the consent forms were kept in my possession until the completion of the study and destruction of data. The number was only be referenced for name if I needed to contact a participant to clarify a response or for follow-up questions. The assigned number was used to keep data organized during the data collection and analysis processes.

All paper data (consent forms and interview notes) were stored in my possession in a locked file cabinet. All electronic data were stored on a USB drive that remained in my possession throughout the entire research process. When the research findings are disseminated, I will refrain from using any names or identifying numbers, as well as the agency in which the participant was employed. Five years after the completion of the

study, I will shred all paper documents and delete all electronic data relevant to the study.

This policy is in accordance Walden University guidelines.

Summary

I implemented a qualitative research design within an action research approach to investigate practice concerns relating to the social worker experience and SWS within the capital defense teamwork setting. I conducted face-to-face interviews with a six experienced SWMS to investigate the challenges that are experienced within this interprofessional setting and how an interdisciplinary-focused SWS framework may be incorporated to address issues. The professional community actively participated in a process intended to identify the practice obstacle, establish a plan of action to resolve the issue, and implement steps for change. Data yielded from this investigation were analyzed according to a thematic coding system, and then interpreted for their application to social work practices within this setting and other interprofessional setting in which social workers engage. To ensure ethical protection of the researcher and all participants, procedures involving informed consent, confidentiality, and secure storage and data management were conducted.

Section 3: Presentation of the Findings

The intent of this study was to investigate practice challenges experienced by SWMS and to further explore the appropriateness of an interprofessional-focused supervision approach to address those challenges. I sought to answer these questions: (a) What practice challenges do SWMS believe would benefit from supervision? (b) What are SWMS perceptions about whether an interprofessional supervision approach would adequately address practice challenges?

The duration of all interviews, in-person and telephone, were between 35 minutes and 1 hour. Each participant who agreed to a face-to-face interview met with me at a public coffee shop. Each interview was recorded with the iPhone voice memo application. The interviews that were conducted over the phone were recorded with Google voice software. Recordings from both software programs were transferred via e-mail to my Walden University e-mail address and then saved on a USB drive. After all of the recordings were saved, I transcribed each interview and saved a copy of the transcription with each recording. At the conclusion of data collection, I organized the data set and implemented thematic coding techniques for analysis.

In this section, I will review data analysis techniques, including data collection, recruitment, and validation procedures, and limitations that occurred during the course of the investigation; and findings, including descriptive statistics, relevance to the research questions, and unexpected findings.

Data Analysis Techniques

I collected data over the course of a 2-month period. In initial research efforts, I focused on data collection from a capital defender agency in Georgia. All of the respondents who were interviewed responded within a 3-week period. The response rate for the agency was low, finally counting four participants from this agency. The second agency included in the data set, a capital defense agency in Texas, yielded two responses. These participants responded within a 2-week period.

I began data analysis by examining the transcriptions of each interview recording. I created a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet that organized the data into question/answer format. This was done for each participant. At the completion of this stage, I further dissected the data, organizing the participant responses by categories and themes.

Excel was the only software used in data analysis. All interview questions and answers were first divided into two categories. These categories were determined by which research questions the interview questions addressed. I sifted through each participant response and highlighted frequently used words and paralleling concepts to create categories. For example, the category "liaison" was created as a function of the SWMS role. This encompassed answers like "I connect clients with their community and family," "I build relationships with the client, family, and greater network," and "I involve everyone in the case and determine relevance." Responses were coded by words or phrases and then grouped according to the idea that it conveyed. In the final step of data analysis, I further grouped the identified concepts into overall themes, according to which research question the information addressed.

Validation Procedures

Credibility

To ensure the credibility of the data reported and findings, each interview was audio-recorded. During each interview, I reflected on participant responses for clarity and summarized information to gain understanding. I also encouraged each participant to add anything that was not discussed and to ask additional questions at the conclusion of each interview. In the transcription phase, the record was checked by replaying the audio recording, matching the typed data. During data analysis, I was sure to use explicit language from each participant to accurately convey the information being shared, as suggested by Stringer (2007).

Dependability and Confirmability

To ensure dependability and confirmability, I received oversight from a capstone chair and committee members. Additionally, the entire research investigation process was documented including study design, data collection procedures, handling of data, analysis, and presentation of findings. Documentation also reflects reasoning for the development of themes and data interpretation. Finally, all records were preserved and will be maintained in accordance with Walden University research guidelines.

Transferability

I focused on social workers who were employed as MS in capital defense teams.

Although I encompassed a specific community, the population represents social workers on various levels of training and experiences, as well as different geographical regions.

The scope of this study, focusing on practice challenges and supervision for social

workers in interprofessional teams, can be applied within other interprofessional settings because, as indicated by Craig, Bejan, & Muskat (2013) and Craig & Muskat (2016), these experiences are not unique and may be arise across settings (Additionally, the design of this investigation was guided by ST. This theoretical basis has been accepted as a basis for team functionality, as its principles may be adapted to a multitude of settings (Glaser & Suter, 2016).

Validity

Multiple measures were taken for validation during the interview and data collection phases. I personally collected all data. There were no secondary sources included in the data set. Once the audio recordings were transcribed, all transcriptions were scrutinized to ensure its relevance to the research topic. All information I reported was in direct correlation to the topic discussed.

Limitations

The data collection phase endured a few setbacks: low response rates and extended time. Due to a low response rate from the first agency, I was required to request approval to conduct and include research from an additional agency. This approval phase added additional time to the data collection phase. The second agency also yielded a low response rate. Although somewhat expected, I was challenged by the work schedules of the participant pool, which impacted the scheduling of individual interviews.

Findings

The data collected from interviews conducted with six SWMS revealed information relevant to the experiences of social workers employed as MS and the

perception of how adequately an interprofessional-focused supervision approach would address practice issues. To maintain consistency and clarity throughout the investigation, I developed themes in accordance with the research questions. Themes that addressed RQ1, focusing on SWMS professional challenges, included ole navigation and ethical practices; RQ2, which explored the application of interprofessional-focused supervision, included increased competence and team cohesion.

Demographics

Each interview initiated with demographic questions. The total sample size was *N* = 6. I asked a series of demographics questions. All of the participants were employed as full-time SWMS at the time of data collection. The total sample size was split evenly between the indicated classifications of work experience. Categories were labeled as entry-level, quantified by serving 1 to 2 years in the mitigation role; midlevel indicated as 3 to 4 years of experience; and experienced categorized as SWMS who had served in the role for 5 years or more.

One participant was trained as a social worker at the bachelor's level, while the remaining participants had received a master's degree. Of those, one had received a master's degree, four were licensed at the LMSW or LCSW level. Of the total sample, two were entry level, serving 1 to 2 years in social work practice, while four had been in the field for at least 5 years.

Themes

RQ1: Practice challenges. This theme emerged as a focal point of the research investigation. Each participant discussed their experiences relating to fulfilling the

SWMS role. Although several aspects of this were shared, each interview focused on the difficulty of navigating role and the emergence of practice dilemma at some point during the discussion.

Theme 1: Role navigation. Directly answering RQ1, all six participants revealed their thoughts about how difficult it was to enter the MS role as a professionally trained social worker. Participant 3 described this in a personal experience by stating:

Yeah, I think the one thing that, you know, certainly sort of has hit the surface frequently is when we go into homes and we're interviewing clients, families and other lay witnesses. We definitely see things that I think, you know, call the social workers enough to need to do something about, you know, whether it's just abject poverty or neglect or what could become considered of use and things like this. And we have to constantly sort of refocus our work to, get what we need, which is mitigation information.

Participant 5 also described a similar difficulty in describing the value of social work principles in the MS role, yet having to dishonor that in an instance:

The good thing about [the organization] is they're very client centered, so it does allow us to really build a good relationship with the client. Um, I would say that I definitely am supposed to be the one to build maybe like the best rapport with our clients to kind of see where clients are coming from as well as their family members and build relationships with family members as well and pretty much any, anyone that we interview. . . So, we had one case where, um, our client was offered LWOP or life without parole and they had a feeling that the family may,

would probably, I guess, cause issues with that if we were to tell them, our clients' family. Um, so we were, we were directed to basically not tell this family and we weren't, we were told not to tell them that the plea was going to happen or what was going to take place or anything... it was really hard knowing that like the family members may have a difficult time going to see our client after the plea taken place. Um, so it was hard to kind of separate like, okay, well this is for the greater good of the overall case. However, it was still hard to like not be able to tell the family even though we all knew like, like I believe that the family could definitely trump, you know, the case in like mess it up as far as the plea, But it was just really hard, like not like not knowing that our client, whenever he took the deal that he was going to be, other than like his legal team, that he was not going to have necessarily any family support there.

Role navigation was thought to be challenging for novice SWMS, as social work skills are valuable to the MS role, yet encouraged to forget when legal aspects of the case are deemed priority. As a SMWS that had been in this position for a year at the time of the interview, Participant 1 explained that social work was central to capital defense but had already experienced a time in which it was necessary to choose mitigation over social work:

I think at its heart, capital defense is...follows social work values... I think that that it is an essential value. . . So, for example, I had a client who wrote a letter, he's just like, he's very attention seeking, but he wrote us a letter back in the winter, saying that he was going to kill himself on his birthday, which was in

January...As a social worker I have an ethical responsibility to take this seriously... And the lawyers really, they were really afraid that if I went to him and expressed to him how serious this was, they were really concerned that I might do something that would put him in a suicide cell and suicide smocks on suicide watch and lose his trust in us. And so basically what happened was they went to him, the attorneys went to him and they're like, don't ever say anything about suicide to [her]ever, that was their way of handling it.

Participant 4, as a more experienced SWMS engaged in reflection, admitted that help navigating social work and the MS role in the beginning of their professional tenure would have been beneficial. Participant 4 stated,

I would say, and this is just based on personal issues that I've had, but, and so, so it may not be applicable to everybody, but this is how I learn and what would have helped me earlier in this work it's just certain, certain guidelines that merge social work guidelines with mitigation guidelines. It's been my experience that because everything is case by case...but there's no real guidelines to help you merge the two. So, I mean something, something like that would have been helpful so that way we're not figuring out every, every step of the way...

Collectively, all participants reported the experience of having to choose-a-side as a challenging part of their professional role, ultimately requiring them to perform a degree of navigation through the role for which they were hired and the profession for which they were trained. This not only poses a professional challenge, but potentially a practice dilemma in many cases

Theme 2: Ethical practices. This theme emerged as SMMS discussed the difficulty of balancing the duties of a MS with the professional identification of a social worker. Although major highlights of this theme correlated with practice challenges, I deemed it necessary to contribute separate discussion to ethical practices, as it was essential to the social work profession and aims of this study.

There was a collective understanding among more experienced participants that although social work ideology is valued within the capital defense setting, legal ideology must dominate team work and decisions. The participants revealed the difficulty that this presents. Participant 3 stated,

In fact, that's what the mitigation investigation [is], and the social workers in the team. That's why, you know, we make it a habit to hire folks with those backgrounds because we do that and those ideologies do have to be upheld. However, you know, at the end of the day if it comes down to, you know, if something is legal duty versus social work obligation, the legal duty will be upheld...while we use our social work skills and training, definitely the legal ethics and um, and duty sort of takeover. I don't want to say, yeah, I guess. I mean they, they sort of supersede what, you know, what needs to happen on these cases because we do work within the court of law. And so that actually does dominate the work here... In a sense, you have to keep your blinders on and go, no, I'm not here to deal with this child's like...

Participant 6 echoed this:

[social work is] Pretty highly valued because [organization] understood that social workers inherently are pretty good at drawing out that like holistic narrative...that legal focus of the case is, is always a priority. It definitely dominates over any, any real decision or any real outcome you can have on the case... Ok, so whenever I was in school, they talked to a whole lot about like termination of clients. Right?...I know that that's a big deal in the, in the code of ethics. And I know it's a big deal for social workers that have a very strict way of terminating, you know, you've got to make sure your clients in the right place and all of this kind of stuff. Right? Well our job is to get to termination pretty quick. Um, and you know, I've had clients before that are visibly depressed or you know, they have mental health issues or whatever and we terminate through a plea or through some sort of waiver and then that's that if we get a waiver on one day and I haven't seen my client in a week or two, I'll, I won't ever see him again. And so, I haven't actually terminated. Um, and that's just kind of the way it is. And then it's onto the next one. Um, you know, I don't see clients after a plea and that's not really a positive um, termination process.

Participant 4 shared a perspective of reflecting on ethical practice:

Um, yeah, just as far as learning how to work with people and what learning how to work with people and how the hold myself as a, as a professional. So then, you know, in this job, because we're getting so much, I guess bad information sometimes, you have to think of creative ways to make those people comfortable in sharing that information. And so, then they may, we may do in this like, like

prime example, you know, if we have a mother that or mother whatever that is hard to speak to, we may take them out for and get a sandwich. But, you know, in a, in a community sense of community social work, job, I wouldn't ever buy anything for my clients because that would be unethical.

RQ2: Application of interprofessional-focused supervision approach. Themes were developed in correlation with the research questions. In seeking to understand practice challenges among SWMS, I considered solutions to challenges experienced within this profession. All six of the participants responded that an interprofessional-focused supervision would provide an aspect of guidance to the issues that were discussed. All participants claimed that this supervision method would increase understanding and functionality within the team.

Theme 1: Increased competence. The most frequent response given about how an interprofessional-focused supervision approach would help SWMS included the concept of understanding, though participants expressed this in different ways. Participant 1 shared that an interprofessional-focused supervision is something they have been exposed to and explained its usefulness by stating:

But I think it is really useful to have someone who is aware of everyone's roles on the team and can kind of be like, well, when dealing with this issue, like this is how the attorney is going to view it. You're a social worker while you're going to view it. Just want to let you know about their perspective... I think that would be really cool and maybe that's already something that's of happening at least on these two cases...But in those meetings, you know, it is the full team with the fact

investigators and attorneys, myself and everybody and, and I do think that she's really good at understanding where everyone is coming from and making sure that all the voices are heard.

Participant 2 shared,

I think where, where it would be helpful to have those two married is when there was some sort of A conflict or B like just ethical dilemma that involved something legal that I didn't fully understand... So, I guess sometimes when, when things are hinging on like a particular legal thing and sometimes it gets so complicated and having not been to law school I don't understand it and I think in those cases it might help me understand why a decision was the best...

Participant 5 shared,

Um, I definitely think it would help just because a lot of the times I don't, I won't agree with what they're doing or they won't necessarily agree with what I'm doing just because just because of the lack of knowledge of why we're doing what we're doing. So yeah, it would definitely help. If they were able to explain to me why they're doing what they're doing, then maybe then it makes more sense to me versus when I'm seeing it solely from a social work point of view. Definitely like having an attorney's perspective or supervision that that does help.

Theme 2: Team cohesion. Some participants in favor of an interprofessional-focused supervision approach also communicated that a better understanding of each person's perspective would contribute to optimizing the functionality of the team.

Participant 3 made a bold statement, in claiming that supervision is a necessary

component of the mitigation role and insisted that encompassing all aspects of capital defense is helpful in supervision, as it has been practiced within the agency. This has ultimately increased understanding among all team members to work as a unit.

Participant 3 stated:

I don't think any one of us that does this work could have done mitigation investigation without social work supervision... we really do need an interprofessional-focused supervision in the sense that we are working with lawyers... We started, you know, we meet once a month as mitigation for mitigation meeting and doing that, those meetings, as I've mentioned, we have outside speakers come in and present about whatever issue, but we have one lawyer a month come, you know, a different lawyer every month come and talk to us about sort of their approach to mitigation or their approach to a legal case or their area of legal of the legal work. And so what we've done is we started incorporating specific, you know, we incorporated lawyers, which is, and we often have fact investigators kind of answered questions that we, we don't know, stuff that we're not trained in that we don't really even actually do, but we need to understand why the fact investigator would do what they do to better understand how it impacts the mitigation on the case. And so definitely mitigation meetings have become much more interprofessional.

Participant 4 stated:

I think it would definitely enrich because the main reason we have interdisciplinary teams is because everybody brings different things to the table

and so by me learning what you bring and what your specialties are, it's not going to do anything but make my understanding better what you're doing. So, I as a social worker coming in, I do know some quote unquote law or understand the court system, but I'm not going to know every motion. I'm not going to know why you're doing A instead of B, why you're filing this motion instead of that motion. I'm not going to understand all of that because I don't have a law degree. So, and then you know, you may need certain mitigation. It's in my experience sometimes they need certain mitigation issues in order to argue a motion. And so, in order for me to understand what you need for me and how we can work better, serve the client, I need to have a better understanding of why you're making certain decisions.

Participant 6 also supported this:

I don't think that in my, in my view, I guess it couldn't hurt. Like if he's got, you know, all of this holistic focus right now you've got to do the legal side of things while attending to the social work side of things. And then you have to understand these all these different experts and understand all of these different personalities, whatnot. And so, I mean, I think it would be absolutely beneficial for the whole team, especially in this work because it's not a traditional social work role you have to have, while you might have all of the skills and ability of a social worker, you're not actually really acting as one.

In addition to discussion regarding the application of an interprofessional-focused supervision approach, I further explored which elements of supervision SWMS

considered most helpful. Findings from this inquiry revealed several significant themes which may provide additional direction for the provision of supervision within the participating agencies and other capital defense teams. Social work mitigation specialists prefer that the supervision provided to them meets the following conditions: (1) is provided by someone who possesses a clinical social work background, (2) the supervisor is experienced as a MS, (3) can incorporate legal and investigative perspectives in their practice guidance, (4) is detached from the case being consulted, and (5) encourages an informal, open-door policy in which supervisees feel respected, and comfortable being open and honest about their challenges. Participant 1 stated

I think what is most helpful is just knowing that someone else knows what's going on and what I'm doing and can offer a measure of guidance or often I feel more comfortable talking to my supervisor about ideas that I have that I may not necessarily bring to the team yet. So that's helpful to kind of bounce things off of her to get her feedback because she's also been doing this for 11 years. I've been doing this for one. And so there certainly are times in which I'm thinking I didn't agree with what that attorney said, am I just not in the right mindset yet for capital work? Or um, you know, there, there are times in which the way that I work might be different than the way the other team members work and having issues adjusting to that and I'll go to her and just kind of be like, what should I do here?...And so I think it's helpful just to kind of have someone else validating what I'm doing.

Participant 2 also shared a similar perspective

So, I kind of had her to balance those kinds of things off of until I felt comfortable making the decision on my own. Um, and even stuff like, just any judgment call...Um, but yeah, so I got to just kind of like talk through things like that with her about like, hey, this is something that's standing out to me. Do you think this is worth pursuing? Or, and so to me, like I think in any, I would imagine in any type of work, but certainly in mitigation, like being able to have someone to go to for that kind of thing is crucial in the beginning because so much about mitigation is like creative thinking... And I think if you want to empower people to learn to think that way you have, they have to be able to have a sounding board and someone who's been doing it a little bit loud.

Participant 3 stated

Um, for me personally, it's always been understanding mental health and all its nuances, learning team work with, you know, vast majority of our clients and people in the criminal justice system have mental health issues and so learning to defend them despite their limitations or really understanding their limitations and then learning to work to fight them is what supervision I think has been most helpful to me. Really just sort of learning to maneuver through social work, social work ethics versus legal, you know, ethics are obligated and that's a common question that we have to grapple with. I'm trying to square the, you know, those, you know, those sorts of practices that we are raised with and social work schools and then coming here and understanding while we have social work backgrounds, we're not operating as social workers were actually operating as

mitigation investigators. And so, learning to figure out which hat to wear when takes a good deal of supervision and you know, and sort of learning as you go.

Participant 4 stated

Having someone that understands, that's done the work and understand how these issues can come up. Um, I've also had supervision outside of [agency] while working here just for, just to obtain my license to get extra hours for supervision and they don't really understand the clientele that we deal with. They don't see it the same way. Um, they don't look at the world the same way as we do. So, someone that supervision in this work, they're gonna understand how to move about as a social worker with also having that and also having that, um, the, the legal aspects that you need in the back of your head.

And though Participant 5 had never experienced supervision from a social worker, they were able to share what elements have been most useful in the supervision that has been provided. Participant 5 stated

Um, well first of all, he able to help me take a step back and kind of look at the big picture. I feel like a lot of times I'm just so entrenched in our case, just within it all and it's overwhelming, but then like he definitely helps me to just kind of take a step back and relax. Um, and he, he just able to break down like different problems for me and just lead me in the right direction.

Participant 6, who solicits outside of their employing agency also shared their perspective:

Yeah, that's [advice from clinical social workers] really helpful because they're very experienced and knowledgeable too. It's a different perspective than somebody who's just like the theoretical side of psychology. So I talked to the theoretical side people and then I talk to, you know, the, the clinical social work types who are kind of putting all that into practice and mix them both and kind of see where it would be beneficial for our work because I know that you have to run a lot of the traditional things that you learned through this weird capital defender filter, right? Because it's not always going to play out exactly how it's supposed to.

Unexpected Findings

The majority of findings from this research investigation align with existing research relevant to social workers that work within interprofessional team settings. However, there were some unforeseen themes which emerged from the data. Though SWMS perceived their role to include serving as the team's mental health advisor, five participants admitted to not being confident about their knowledge relating to mental health. Paralleling this finding, a portion of the sample understood competence to be an aspect of practice dilemmas within this practice setting.

Additionally, and though social work values are thought to be essential to capital defense mitigation work, it was thought that employing only social workers to occupy the full MS staff within a single organization would be harmful, as it could limit the mitigation perspective. For example, Participant 6 mentioned, it is beneficial to have professionals like journalists and anthropologists as a part of the mitigation team. This

thought may stem from the understanding that mitigation is not about being a social worker, though the skillset is valued and widely used. SWMS explained that they cannot wear the hat of a social worker when they serve in the role of a MS because they are not hired to be a social worker. The law has to dominate the professional motive because the ultimate responsibility is to obtain desired results for the client's legal case, which is governed by the court of law.

Lastly, four out of six participants expressed, though not explicitly stated, the NASW *Code of Ethics* practice standard 1.02 Self-Determination goes against the goal of the SWMS role and the goals of this professional setting. The goal is not to do what the client thinks is best, but rather to obtain an outcome that is less than the punishment of death. Though this is clearly understood and accepted, participants admitted to struggling with this aspect of their role.

Summary

Findings of this investigation reveal that social work principles are engrained in capital defense mitigation. Social workers are commonly hired for this role, as they are expected to exercise the skillsets gained from education and practice experiences. Despite this, SWMS are challenged with balancing their role as a MS with their professional SW value-base, often leading to ethical practice dilemmas. This challenge exists because their duties as MS and the legal function of the capital defense team must dominate teamwork and decisions-making.

In addition to this, SWMS accept the implementation of an interprofessionalfocused supervision approach as resolution to managing these practice issues. The data suggests that it is preferred that the supervision provided to them meets the following conditions: (a) is provided by someone who possesses a clinical social work background, (b) the supervisor is experienced as a MS, (c) can incorporate legal and investigative perspectives in their practice guidance, (d) is detached from the case being consulted, and (e) encourages an informal, open-door policy in which supervisees feel respected, and comfortable being open and honest about their challenges.

This revelation of findings supports the need for SWS, and more specifically, an interprofessional approach to not only help navigate these dynamics, but to also optimize the potential of SWMS. It is understood that their skills should be molded into the MS role; however, achieving this is not always clear for novice SWMS. Additionally, SWMS seek to have a greater understanding of case-specific legal decisions. Sharing this perspective will enhance their knowledge and ability to work within this legal-focused setting; ultimately advancing the team's ability to operate with greater cohesion.

These results produce an aspect of evidence-based knowledge that should not be overlooked. Information such as this not only advances the specific role of SWMS but can help to guide the practices of social workers who serve as interprofessional team members and the greater social work discipline. The future of social work education, practice, and theoretical perspectives rely on expounding upon knowledge like this investigation to ensure adherence to ethical practice standards and the delivery of quality service to all populations served.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

In this action research investigation, I explored the practice challenges of SWMS and what supervision approach could best address those challenges. I intended to not only highlight the experiences of these professionals, but reveal how they may reach their optimal practice potential. I found that SWMS were challenged with balancing the demands of their professional role and maintaining the integrity of social work practice standards. The implementation of an interprofessional-focused supervision approach will address SWMS practice challenges and facilitate greater cohesion within capital defense teams.

I found several factors: (a) social work ideology is central to the capital defense MS role; (b) it is essential to the work of SWMS specialists to receive professional guidance to assist in balancing their professional responsibilities and ethical obligations as social workers, especially when new to the field; and (c) an understanding of each professional perspective within the team will facilitate the development of greater competence. Professionals who are trained in social work skillsets often advance into this area of work because social work values serve as a model for practice to reach desired goals. SWMS rely on their skillset to be successful in this field and much of that success is attributed to SWS, a named best practice.

The findings of this study correlate with existing research. Caras and Sandu (2014) promoted the notion that SWS is essential to the social worker role, professional development within the organization, and outcomes. In addition, Manthrope et al. (2013) and Caras and Sandu both highlighted SWS as a necessity for the success of entry-level

social workers, as it assists them in acclimating to the organization and their respective roles. This is supported by a main theme that emerged in this investigation, as entry-level SWMS expressed that it was challenging to adapt to the MS role.

Knowledge acquired from this inquiry may be applied to micro, mezzo, and macro level practices. The results provide insight about how to improve individual practice, the incorporation of social work professionals in teamwork and organizational settings, and the development of supervision guidelines and education of future professionals. The application of these extensions will be explained within the following sections: (a) application for professional ethics in social work practice, (b) recommendations for social work practice, (c) impact on social work practice, and (d) implications for social change.

Application for Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice

The findings of this study provide context to advance guidelines set forth in the NASW Code of Ethics (NASW, 2008) that address interprofessional teamwork, Ethical Standard 2.03 Interdisciplinary Collaboration. This standard highlights that clients benefit from clinical collaboration. Although the NASW addresses interprofessional teamwork and encourages clinicians to engage in cross-discipline efforts, it is vague and fails to acknowledge questions concerning the protection of clients and licensed professionals when their work clashes with other professional obligations and ideologies. This lack of guidance correlates with issues that emerged in the data and directly related to the Code of Ethics: competency and social justice.

Competency

The NASW Code of Ethics called for professionals of the social work discipline to practice competently, only engaging in areas in which they are knowledgeable and equipped to handle. Competency emerged as a theme in this data set, as SWMS were expected to fulfill duties that they are not always equipped to perform. This was evident in responses relating to the areas of supervision that the participants considered to be most helpful. As instructed by the Code of Ethics, when a professional does not feel competent in the area in which they are working, they should seek supervision. However, SWMS often lack this accommodation. If professionals are expected to align practice efforts with the expectations of the ethical code, clinicians must receive basic professional accommodations, regardless of their practice setting. According to Caras and Sandu (2014) and my findings, SWS builds professional competency and is essential to the SWMS role. These professional dynamics carry risks, as it stunts the professional growth of SWMS and could cause harm to clients.

Social Justice

Social workers are expected to challenge social injustices on behalf of the vulnerable populations that they seek to serve. Although this is the overall goal of capital defense teams, questions arise when SWMS understand that the social injustice(s) their client is facing has to fall second to the legal boundaries of the case. SWMS must abide by the focus of their professional role as a mitigation specialist, neglecting to address challenges that are potentially harmful to the client. The notion that social workers may be required to ignore their professional value-based and wellbeing of the client is an

injustice within itself, trickling down to a vulnerable population that suffers. In addition to clients, professionals are challenged within themselves, debating as to whether they are making the best decisions from and ethical context, as well as considering the wellbeing of the client.

Impact on Professional Ethics

I found a need for social workers who work within interprofessional teams to receive the same supervision accommodations as those in social work settings. Although the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2008) made recommendations to social workers about seeking supervision when practice questions arise, these solutions are most relevant in social work professions. When social workers practice outside of a traditional setting, they are left to navigate the difficult question of how social work practice principles fit within their professional role and responsibility. Research that finds resolve for these nontraditional practice dilemmas are imperative to the social work discipline, the work of professionals within this field, as well as how social work is integrated into other systems. It is imperative for leaders in the field of social work to collaborate with interprofessional teams, specifically capital defense teams, to educate and propose regulations for best practices that elevate the quality of practice ethics and protect social workers and clients. Ensuring adequate supervision for social workers can achieve that.

The results of this study provide an in-depth perspective to how supervision approaches may be adapted to meet the needs of supervisees within capital defense teams. The SWMS in this study sample indicated that consulting with social work supervisors who possess an LCSW but did not have mitigation experience resulted in the

delivery of supervision that was out of context. The supervisors were said to make suggestions that were not applicable to the SWMS role. Also, the SWMS agreed that these supervisors "did not get it" when referring to the nature of mitigation and their clients. This is a significant finding, as it responds to O'Donoghue (2015), who provided recommendation for future research to focus on the structure of supervision, answering how and why its techniques are applicable. This research begins to address these questions directly for SWMS, as greater understating for the professional needs of this group provides steps for advancement. These steps should not be limited to consider for this professional sector, as this investigation and its findings demonstrate methods to challenge the advancement of professional ethics within the field of social work and how methods may be applied to ensure ethical standards are met in practice.

Recommendations for Social Work Practice

The results yielded from this study have the potential to initiate multiple dimensions of change in the social work discipline. The knowledge gained from this study provide direction for how SWMS may address professional development and practice needs, in addition to organizational development. In addition, it suggested that advocacy and research efforts focus on securing the attention necessary to acquire changes within social work practice guidelines and policies that govern social work professionals.

Social Work Practices within the Capital Defense Setting

The data acquired for this research investigation were the direct result of understanding the experiences of social workers employed in capital defense agencies. I recommend that SWMS begin with their personal practice as a method to express and

obtain the resources necessary to optimize their practice potential. I found that many of the participants neglected their identification as a social worker due to the legal setting in which they worked and role for which they were hired. Although this was understood as a professional adaptation, it was not intentional or desired. Although their skillset is valued, these professionals are operating within a culture in which the social worker role is not understood or defined.

It is important for SWMS to begin to advocate for desired changes within their agency. The discussions may include role identification, contributing strengths and ideas, and the necessary components to achieved desired goals specific to social workers and the mitigation role. Although this may be different for each practitioner, capital defense team, and organization, the provision of an interprofessional supervision will address varying dynamics; however, agencies cannot implement accommodations when there is a lack of understanding. As SWMS use practice experiences to communicate their practice needs, this will begin to facilitate a culture of unity, ultimately impacting practice and agency outcomes. These actions also offer knowledge pertaining to best practices, revealing challenges and successes. These factors illustrate guidance for future research efforts.

Guidelines for Interdisciplinary Practices

It is essential for actions to extend beyond the boundaries of individual practitioners and agencies. The incorporation of practice guidelines within the NASW Code of Ethics to provide a framework for interprofessional practice is also recommended. Social work practitioners are encouraged by the Code of Ethics to

participate in cross-discipline efforts to address client challenges. Guidelines that outline best practice supervision techniques and practice guidelines unique to the experiences of interprofessional settings will serve as a guide for social work practitioners and other professionals who seek to collaborate with social workers. This is necessary to facilitate a culture that complements evolving trends that are reflective of the needs for multi perspective interventions used to address varying layers of client issues. Adopting this approach will guide collaborative professionals towards decision making that incorporate varying perspective, rather than one of priority teams (Barr, 2013; Bitter et al., 2013).

Impact on Social Work Practice

Researcher's Practice

Reflecting on my own practice, it is my goal to use this knowledge and future professional licensing to effectuate change in this practice setting. The immediate need is to provide the necessary components of supervision to SWMS. Not only will I seek to provide this service, but also educate other professionals trained at this level to do the same. Although capital defense professionals understand that social workers are trained to perform the duties of this professional role, the full potential, as well as the needs of, social work professional are misunderstood. This can only be resolved with education and action. It is my duty to meet that responsibility.

Clinical Social Work Practice

Supervision is imperative to the work of social workers in all professional settings, stated as a significant theme that emerged from this research. This theme highlighted not only the importance and benefits of SWS, but reveals the ethical

challenges that arise in its absence. Adherence to recommended efforts ignite the call for attention to ensure that social work professionals in all settings are meeting the standards of practice, challenging leaders in the fields to develop regulatory changes to accommodate these needs. This body of knowledge, which provides understanding for field work, has the ability to develop standards with greater relevancy and proposed solutions. This takes steps towards bridging the gap between policy and practice.

Transferability

Although I explored the experiences of SWMS, the applicability of its findings may be considered within a broader context, as social workers are entering other professional realms at high rates (Kanno & Koeske, 2010) and share experiences across interprofessional settings- health care, environmental, and forensic. Understanding that these experiences are common across settings provides evidence that supports the transferability to a greater aspect of clinical social work practice. Although supervision needs may be unique to the clinician, this best practice expands across the social work discipline. An understanding of practice needs is necessary for the provision of adequate supervision (Ellis et al., 2014). This serves as a foundation for professionals both seeking and providing supervision and is essential for all settings in which social work clinicians work.

Limitations

Although I examined the perspective of social workers trained at different levels of the discipline, it was limited in the number of respondents included in the study. The sample also included a specific group of social workers, with the entire population having

spent the bulk of their social work career as a SWMS. Additionally, all participants were SWMS employed with agency; none were private practice SWMS. It was possible that SWMS possessing experiences in other areas of practice and working in private practice would have shared varying perspectives than the participants. These factors limit the generalizability of the study. It is possible that the themes found within this study may not exist among a more diverse participant sample.

Recommendations for Future Research

In preparation for this research investigation, I found that information pertaining to this subject matter is scarce. This study provides a foundation for examining SWS within the capital defense team framework because it raises awareness about what is necessary to gain a more in-depth understanding of this practice issue—examining practice challenges, social work practitioner needs, capital defense team dynamics, and solutions within the context of supervision.

Despite these strengths, this study was limited in diversity among the participant pool and lacks greater depth in to understanding how beneficial aspects of supervision successful tools are to overcoming SWMS and interprofessional practice challenges. I recommend that future research efforts expound on this body of knowledge by sampling a greater population of SWMS and consider the inclusion of all interprofessional social workers. This will provide a depiction of SWMS perspectives and confirm or discredit the notion that interprofessional social workers experience similar challenges across settings. This will provide additional direction for the development of guidelines to

govern interprofessional social work practices and education for collaborating professionals.

Dissemination of Research Findings

I suggest that the findings of this study are disseminated via presentation and/or written summary of study highlights. This both accommodates major stakeholders and provides the opportunity for questions and feedback. Stakeholder reaction to the research is integral to the research process, as it further enriches the substance of information and provides authentication. A formal documentation of highlighted findings is essential to establishing a foundation for understanding, establishing guidelines, as well as prioritizing and implementing incremental change.

Implications for Social Change

Adherence to new knowledge developed from this study has the potential to effect change among individual practice efforts and how collaborative efforts across sectors are applied. I highlighted the importance of understanding professional ideologies as disciplines are integrated to produce client interventions. As professionals are enlightened in this area, this awareness will encourage the adaptation of practice approaches that value inclusive elements. Interprofessional-focused work will exceed limits that are enforced by ideological teamwork challenges.

Implications for research which effect social change begin with the focuses of research efforts and the engagement of necessary stakeholders to produce new knowledge. These are not only ventures to gain new knowledge but also ethical ventures to advance the social work discipline as well as the systems in which they work. As

stakeholders seeks to elevate the integrity of work, this provides a point of investigation, igniting the development and policies with greater relevance and applicable perspectives that not only provoke change for clients, but also within systems of service.

In correlation with the NASW, this research extends beyond the efforts of a single practice effort. This provides guidance as to how individual practice may be enhanced, as well as how organizations with multiple professions may obtain desired outcomes and how guidelines may be implemented to govern these achievements. This provides an example of cyclical change, as each aspect is crucial to improving a systemic operation and producing greater social change for its implementors and consumers.

Summary

The effort of this research was grounded in understanding how social work professionals may work cohesively within other disciplined-focused settings. Its greater purpose is rooted in understating how social work professionals can systematically effect change relevant to how others perceive and understand social work, as well as how this change improves the quality of service delivery. In correlation with the social work discipline and the mission of Walden University, I sought to reach beyond a single profession, but rather to include a diverse set of professional principles to apply critical analysis of a single issue, provide context and understanding, and transform thinking, with the goal of facilitating positive social change. It is the hoped that future endeavors will adhere to this same framework, as it signifies a conscious decision to challenge societal challenges for the greater global good.

References

- American Bar Association. (2003). ABA guidelines for the appointment and performance of defense counsel in death penalty cases. *Hofstra Law Review*, 31(4), 914-1090.

 Retrieved from
 - $http://scholarlycommons.law.hofstra.edu/hlr/vol31/iss4/2?utm_source=scholarlycommons.law.hofstra.edu%2Fhlr%2Fvol31%2Fiss4%2F2&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages=2&sid=2995584e-753b-4ff8-848a-cc133d23eca6%40sessionmgr4009$
- Abramson, J. S. (1993). Orienting social work employees in interdisciplinary settings: Shaping professional and organizational perspectives. *Social Work, 38*(2), 152-157. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/38.2.152_
- Andrews, A. B. (2012). American Bar Association supplementary guidelines for the mitigation function of defense teams in death penalty cases: Implications for social work. *Social Work*, *57*(2), 155-163. doi:10.1093/sw/sws033
- Banks, S. (2010). Integrity in professional life: Issues of conduct, commitment, and capacity. *British Journal of Social Work*, 40(7), 2168-2184. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcp152
- Barr, H. (2013). Toward a theoretical framework for interprofessional education. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 27, 4-9. doi:10.3109/13561820.2012.698328
- Beddoe, L. (2012). External supervision in social work: Power, space, risk, and the search for safety. *Australian Social Work*, 65(2), 197-213. doi:doi.org/10.1080/0312407X.2011.591187.

- Beddoe, L. (2017). Harmful supervision: A commentary. *The Clinical Supervisor*, *36*(1), 88-101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/0312407X.2011.591187
- Beddoe, L., & Howard, F. (2012). Interprofessional supervision in social work and psychology: Mandates and (inter)professional relationships. *The Clinical Supervisor*, *31*, 178-202. doi:10.1080/07325223.2013.730471
- Bitter, J., van Veen-Berkx, E., Gooszen, H. G., & van Amelsvoort, P. (2013).

 Multidisciplinary teamwork is an important issue to healthcare professionals. *Team Performance Management, 19*(5/6), 263-278. doi:

 https://doi.org/10.1108/TPM-11-2012-0041.
- Bogo, M., & McKnight, K. (2005). Clinical supervision in social work. *The Clinical Supervisor*, 24(1/2), 49–67. doi:10.1300/J001v24n01.04.
- Bogo, M., Paterson, J., Tufford, L., & King, R. (2011). Interprofessional clinical supervision in mental health and addiction: Toward identifying common elements. *The Clinical Supervisor*, *30*(1), 124-140. doi:10.1080/07325223.2011.564961.
- Camic, P., Yardley, L., & Rhodes, J. E. (Eds.). (2003). *Qualitative research in psychology: Expanding perspectives in methodology and design*. Washington, DC: APA Publications.
- Canadian Interprofessional Health Collaborative. (2010). *A national interprofessional competency framework*. Retrieved from http://www.cihc.ca/files/CIHC_IPCompetencies_Feb1210r.pdf
- Caras, A., & Sandu, A. (2014). The role of supervision in professional development of

- social work specialists. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 28(1), 75-94. doi:10.1080/02650533.2012.763024
- Carpenter, J., Webb, C. M., & Bostock, L. (2013). The surprisingly weak evidence base for supervision: Findings from a systematic review of research in child welfare practice (2000-2012). *Children and Youth Services Review*, *35*, 1843-1853. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.08.014
- Chiller, P., & Crisp, B. R. (2012). Professional supervision: A workforce retention strategy for social work? *Australian Social Work*, 65(2), 232-242. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/0312407X.2011.625036
- Coleman, M. (2003). Supervision and the clinical social worker. *Clinical Social Work*, 3(2), 1-4. Retrieved from http://resolver.ebscohost.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/
- Craig, S. L., Bejan, R., & Muskat, B. (2013). Making the invisible visible: Are health social workers addressing the social determinants of health? *Social Work in Healthcare*, 52(4), 311-331. doi:10.1080/00981389.2013.764379
- Craig, S. L., & Muskat, B. (2013). Bouncers, brokers, and glue: The self-described roles of social workers in urban hospitals. *Health & Social Work*, *38*(1), 7-16. doi:10.1093/hsw/hls064
- Dan, V. (2017). An exhaustive view on supervision in social work: History, evolution, and current trends. *Social Work Review*, 2, 147-159. Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=sih&AN=123351289&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Ellis, M. V. (2001). Harmful supervision, a cause for alarm: Comment on Gray et al.

- (2001) and Nelson and Friedlander (2001). *Journal of Counseling*Psychology, 48, 401-406. doi:10.1037//0022-O167.48.4.401
- Ellis, M. V., Berger, L., Hanus, A. E., Ayala, E. E., Swords, B. A., & Siembor, M. (2014). Inadequate and harmful clinical supervision: Testing a revised framework and assessing occurrence. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 42, 434–472. doi:10.1177/0011000013508656
- Evans, S., Huxley, P., Baker, C., White, J., Madge, S., Onyett, S. & Gould, N. (2012).

 The social care component of multidisciplinary mental health teams: A review and national survey. *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy*, 17(2), 23-29. doi:10.1258/jhsrp.2012.011117
- Falender, C. A., Burnes, T. R. & Ellis, M. V. (2013). Multicultural clinical supervision and benchmarks: Empirical support informing practice and supervisor training.

 The Counseling Psychologist, 4(1), 8-27. doi:10.1177/0011000012438417
- Fulmer, T. (2016). Effective interdisciplinary teams: Do we really know how to build them? *Journal of the American Society on Aging*, 40(1), 64-70. Retrieved from http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/
- Garbarski, D., Schaeffer, N. C., & Dykema, J. (2016). Interviewing practice, conversational practices, and rapport: Responsiveness and engagement in the standardized survey interview. *Sociological Methodology*, 46(1), 1-38. doi:10.1177/0081175016651074
- Garran, A. M., Kang, H., & Fraser, E. (2014). Pedagogy and diversity: Enrichment and support for social work instructors engaged in social justice education. *Journal of*

- *Teaching in Social Work, 34*, 654-574. doi:10.1080/08841233.2014.952868
- Glaser, B., & Suter, E. (2016). Interprofessional collaboration and integration as experiences by social workers in healthcare. *Social Work in Healthcare*, *55*(5), 395-408. doi:10.1080/00981389.2015.1116483
- Gray, L. A., Ladany, N., Walker, J. A., & Ancis, J. R. (2001). Psychotherapy trainees' experience of counterproductive events in supervision. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 48, 371-383. http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/0022-0167.48.4.371
- Hair, H. J. (2013). The purpose and duration of supervision, and the training and discipline of supervisors: What social workers say they need to provide effective services. *British Journal of Social Work*, *43*, 1562-1588. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcs071
- Harkness, D., & Poertner, J. (1989). Research and social work supervision: A conceptual review. *Social Work*, *34*(2), 115–119. Retrieved from http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/
- Herod, J., & Lymbery, M. (2002). The social work role in multi-disciplinary teams.

 *Social Work in Action, 14(4), 17-27.

 http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/09503150208411539
- Hicks-Pass, S. (2013). Social work field placements in legal settings. *New Social Worker*, 20(1), 6-7. Retrieved from http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/
- Jedynak, W. (2014). Ethical aspects of the profession of social worker. *Social Welfare Interdisciplinary Approach*, 4(2), 38-46. Retrieved from http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/

- Kanno, H., & Koeske, G. F. (2010). MSW students' satisfaction with their field placements: The role of preparedness and supervision quality. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 46(1), 23-38. Retrieved from http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/
- Khalili, H., Hall, J., & DeLuca, S. (2014). Historical analysis of professionalism in western societies: Implications for interprofessional education and collaborative practice. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 28(2), 92-97. doi:10.3109/13561820.2013.869197
- Ladany, N., Lehrman-Waterman, D. E., Molinaro, M., & Wolgast, B. (1999).

 Psychotherapy supervisor ethical practices: Adherence to guidelines, the supervisory working alliance, and supervisee satisfaction. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 27, 443-475. Retrieved from http://journals.sagepub.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/doi/pdf/10.1177/0011000099 273008
- Ladany, N., Mori, Y., & Mehr, K. E. (2013). Effective and ineffective supervision. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 4(1), 28-47. doi:10.1177/0011000012442648
- Llewellyn-Jones, G., & Pereira, J. (2016). Radiological input during pediatric multidisciplinary team meetings and its influence on clinical patient management.

 Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Oncology, 60, 206-209.

 doi:10.1111/1754-9485.12440
- Manthorpe, J., Moriarty, J., Hussein, S., Stevens, M., & Sharpe, E. (2013). Content and purpose social work practice in England: Views of newly qualified social

- workers, managers, and directors. *British Journal of Social Work, 45*(1), 52-68. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bctlCfz
- Mason, M. A. (1991). The McMartin case revisited: The conflict between social work and criminal justice. *Social Work*, *36*(5), 391-395. Retrieved from http://eds.a.ebscohost.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/
- Milne, D., Aylott, H., Fitzpatrick, H., & Ellis, M. V. (2008). How does clinical supervision work? Using a "best evidence synthesis" approach to construct a basic model of supervision. *The Clinical Supervisor*, *27*(2), 173-190. doi:10.1080/07325220802487915
- Morgan, D. L., Ataie, J., Carder, P., & Hoffman, K. (2013). Introducing dyadic interviews as a method for collecting qualitative data. *Advancing Qualitative Methods*, 23(9), 1276-1284. doi:10.1177/1049732313501889
- National Association of Social Workers. (2008). *Code of ethics of the National Association of Social Workers*. Washington, DC. Retrieved from http://www.socialworkers.org/pubs/code/code.asp
- National Association of Social Workers. (2017a). *Practice*. Retrieved from https://www.socialworkers.org/practice/default.asp
- National Association of Social Workers. (2017b). *History of the NASW code of ethics*.

 Retrieved from https://www.socialworkers.org/nasw/ethics/ethicshistory.asp
- National Organization of Forensic Social Work. (2010). *Welcome to NSFOW.org*.

 Retrieved from http://www.nofsw.org/html/forensic_social_work.html
- Nelson, M. L., & Friedlander, M. L. (2001). A close look at conflictual supervisory

- relationships: The trainee's perspective. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 48, 384-395. doi:10.1037//0022-0167.48.4.384
- Newell, W. H. (2001). A theory of interdisciplinary studies. *Issues in Integrative Studies*, 19(1), 1-25. Retrieved from https://our.oakland.edu/
- Nic a Bhaird, C. Xanthopoulou, P., Black, G., Michie, S., Pashayan, N., & Raine, R. (2016). Multidisciplinary team meetings in community mental health: A systematic review of their functions. *The Mental Health Review*, 21(2), 119-140. doi:10.1108/MHRJ-03-2015-0010
- O'Donoghue, K. (2015). Issues and challenges facing social work supervision in the twenty-first century. *China Journal of Social Work*, 8(2), 136-149. http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/17525098.2015.1039172
- O'Donoghue, K., & Tsui, M. (2015). Social work supervision research (1970-2010): The way we were and the way ahead. *British Journal of Social Work, 45*, 616-633. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bct115
- Payne, M. (2002). The politics of systems theory within social work. *Journal of Social Work*, 2(3), 269-292. doi:10.1177/146801730200200302
- Payne, A. A. & Welch, K. (2015). Restorative justice in schools: The influence of race on restorative discipline. *Youth & Society*, 47(4), 1-26. doi:https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0044118X12473125
 doi:10.1177/0044118X12473125
- Prades, J., Remue, E., van Hoof, E., & Borras, J. M. (2015). Is it worth reorganising cancer services on the basis of multidisciplinary teams (MDTs)? A systematic

review of the objectives and organization of MDTs and their impact on patient outcomes. *Health Policy*, 119(4), 464-474.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2014.09.006

- Reed, J. G. & Rohrer, G. E. (2000). Death penalty mitigation: A challenge for social work education. *Journal of Teaching in Social Work*, 20(1/2), 187-199. Retrieved from
 - https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=sih&AN=27646401&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Robinson, K. (2013). Supervision found wanting: Experiences of health and social workers in non-government organisations working with refugees anasylum seekers. *Practice: Social Work in Action*, 25(2), 87-103. doi:10.1080/09503153.2013.775238
- Robson, C. (2011). *Real world research* (3rd ed.). Chichester, United Kingdom: Wiley.
- Schmitz, C. L., Matyok, T., Sloan, L. M. & James, C. (2012). The relationship between social work and environmental sustainability: Implications for interdisciplinary practice. *International Journal of Social Welfare*, 21(3), 278-286. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2397.2011.00855.x
- Shaw, M., Heyman, B., Reynolds, L., Davies, J., & Godin, P. (2007). Multidisciplinary teamwork in a UK regional secure mental health unit a matter for negotiation? *Social Theory & Health*, 5(4), 356-377.

 doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1057/palgrave.sth.8700103

- Sheehan, R. (2016). Forensic social work: Implementing specialist social work education. *Journal of Social Work, 16*(6), 726-741. doi:10.1177/1468017316635491
- Stringer, E. T. (2007). *Action research* (Laureate Education, Inc., custom ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Supplementary guidelines for the mitigation function of defense teams in death penalty cases. (2008). *Hofstra Law Review*, *36*, 677-692. Retrieved from http://www.lexisnexis.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/
- Suter, E., Goldman, J., Martimianakis, T., Chatalalsingh, C., DeMatteo, D. J., & Reeves, S. (2013). The use of systems and organizational theories in the interprofessional field: Findings from a scoping review. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 27(1), 57-64. doi:10.3109/13561820.2012.739670
- Taylor, L. D., Coffey, D. S. & Kashner, T. M. (2016). Interprofessional education of health professionals: Social workers should lead the way. *Health & Social Work*, 41(1), 5-8. doi:10.1093/hsw/hlv082
- Tricco, A. C., Antony, J., Ivers, N. M., Ashoor, H. M., Khan, P. A., Blondal, E., . . .

 Ezer, M. K. (2014). Effectiveness of quality improvement strategies for coordination of care to reduce use of healthcare services: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 186(15), 568-578.

 doi:10.1503/cmaj.141050
- Tsui, M. (1997). The roots of social work supervision. *The Clinical Supervisor*, *15*(2), 191-198. doi:10.1300/J001v15n02_14

- Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing and Health Sciences*, *15*, 398-405. doi:10.1111/nhs.12048
- Vickery, A. (1977). Social work practice: Divisions and unifications. In H. Specht & A. Vickery (Eds.), *Integrating social work methods* (pp. 36–59). London, England: Allen and Unwin.
- Weinstein, J., Morton, L., Taras, H., & Reznik, V. (2013). Teaching teamwork to law students. *Journal of Legal Education*, *63*(1), 36-64. Retrieved from https://heinonline-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/HOL/Page?collection=journals&handle=hein.journals/jled63&id=39&men_tab=srchresults

Appendix A: Interview Questions

| Demogra | phics |
|----------------------------------|--|
| Profession Status of o | nal role:employment |
| □ Full-tim □ Part-tim □ Intern/u | ne paid |
| | of years in this position?ocial work education/training (check all that apply): |
| □ BSW □ MSW □ PhD/DS | □ LBSW □ LMSW □ LCSW |
| Other cert Years in s | cifications? ocial work practice? |
| Question | naire |
| 1. W | hat is your definition or understanding of interprofessional teamwork? |
| 2. W | hat is your understanding of how your current professional role (SWMS) fits |
| wi | thin the interprofessional framework? |
| 3. Ho | ow do team decisions align with social work ideology and the legal focuses of |
| the | e case? Does one dominate the other? |
| 4. W | hat is your understanding and experience with social work supervision? |
| 5. Do | pes this organization provide supervision specifically for social workers? If not, |
| wl | no supervises you? What elements of supervision do you find most useful? |
| 6. Ho | ow is value for the social work practice exhibited in this organization? Or |

devalue?

- 7. What are your professional needs? Are they met within this organization/professional setting?
- 8. What practice challenges have you experienced? Directly related to social work? Ethical dilemmas or opposing practice ideologies?
- 9. How do social work practice values (NASW *Code of Ethics*) intersect with your professional role? Any unmet standards?
- 10. In what ways have you utilized supervision to manage this problem? Did it help?
 Why, why not?
- 11. What would you change about the supervision that is provided to you?
- 12. How could an interprofessional-focused supervision approach enrich your supervision experience? How could it cause harm?

Appendix B: Initial Contact Email

Dear Prospective Participant:

You are invited to take part in a research study about social workers in capital defense teams. This study is being conducted as required for completion of my enrollment in Walden University's Doctor of Social Work Program. I obtained your name/contact information from your Regional Administrative Office.

I am inviting Bachelor's and Master's level social workers who are employed as a capital defense mitigation specialist. Qualifying participants are also required to have worked in this professional role for a minimum of three months.

This study specifically intends to investigate practice challenges experienced by social workers in capital defense settings, and how a specific supervision approach may be applied to address those challenges.

If you are interested and available to participate in an interview, please contact Nicole D. Jackson via email at Nicole.Jackson1@waldenu.edu for any questions, comments and/or concerns.

Thank you in advance,

Nicole D. Jackson Social Work Doctoral Student Walden University